
 
EXECUTIVE SERVICES  

TONBRIDGE & MALLING 

BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

Chief Executive 
Damian Roberts  
 

Gibson Building 
Gibson Drive 
Kings Hill, West Malling 
Kent ME19 4LZ 
West Malling (01732) 844522 

 

 
NB - This agenda contains proposals, 
recommendations and options. These do 
not represent Council policy or decisions 
until they have received proper 
consideration through the full decision 
making process. 

Contact: Democratic Services 
committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk 

 
3 December 2025 

  

 
To: MEMBERS OF THE AREA 3 PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 (Copies to all Members of the Council) 

 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
Your attendance is requested at a meeting of the Area 3 Planning Committee to be held 
in the Council Chamber, Gibson Drive, Kings Hill on Thursday, 11th December, 2025 
commencing at 7.30 pm.  
 
Members of the Committee are required to attend in person. Other Members may attend 
in person or participate online via MS Teams. 
 
Information on how to observe the meeting will be published on the Council’s website. 
Deposited plans can be viewed online by using Public Access. 
 

Yours faithfully 
 
DAMIAN ROBERTS 
 
Chief Executive 

  

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. Guidance for the Conduct of Meetings  
 
 

5 - 8 

Public Document Pack

http://www.tmbc.gov.uk/view-planning-applications


 PART 1 - PUBLIC 
 

2. Apologies for Absence  
 

 

3. Declarations of Interest  
 

 

 Members are reminded of their obligation under the Council’s Code of Conduct to 
disclose any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Other Significant Interests in any 
matter(s) to be considered or being considered at the meeting. These are 
explained in the Code of Conduct on the Council’s website at Code of conduct for 
members – Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council (tmbc.gov.uk). 
  
Members in any doubt about such declarations are advised to contact Legal or 
Democratic Services in advance of the meeting. 
 

4. Minutes  
 

9 - 12 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of Area 3 Planning 
Committee held on 25 September 2025. 
 

5. Glossary and Supplementary Matters  
 

13 - 20 

 Glossary of abbreviations used in reports to the Area Planning Committee 
(attached for information) 
  
Any supplementary matters will be circulated via report in advance of the meeting 
and published to the website. 
 

 Matters for Decision under Delegated Powers (In accordance with Part 3 of 
the Constitution) 
 

6. 25/00855/PA - 49 Hallsfield Road, Chatham  
 

21 - 40 

 Ground floor rear extension and change of use from use class C3 residential 
dwelling to C2 residential institution designed to provide accommodation and 
personal care for up to five individuals. 
 

 Matters for Information 
 

7. Planning Appeals, Public Inquiries and Hearings  
 

41 - 42 

 To receive and note any update in respect of planning appeals, public inquiries 
and hearings held since the last meeting of the Planning Committee. 
 

8. Urgent Items  
 

 

 Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 
 
 
 
 

https://www.tmbc.gov.uk/council/code-conduct-members
https://www.tmbc.gov.uk/council/code-conduct-members


 Matters for consideration in Private 
 

9. Exclusion of Press and Public  
 

43 - 44 

 The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information. 
 

 PART 2 - PRIVATE 
 

10. Urgent Items  
 

 

 Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent due to special 
circumstances and of which notice has been given to the Chief Executive. 
 



 
 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Cllr D Thornewell (Chair) 
Cllr R W Dalton (Vice-Chair) 

 
 Cllr Mrs S Bell 

Cllr A G Bennison 
Cllr T Bishop 
Cllr R I B Cannon 
Cllr L Chapman 
Cllr D A S Davis 
 

Cllr S M Hammond 
Cllr P M Hickmott 
Cllr D Keers 
Cllr A McDermott 
Cllr Mrs A S Oakley 
Cllr C J Williams 
 

 



GUIDANCE ON HOW MEETINGS WILL BE CONDUCTED 

 

(1) Most of the Borough Council meetings are livestreamed, unless there is exempt 

or confidential business being discussed,  giving residents the opportunity to 

see decision making in action.  These can be watched via our YouTube 

channel.  When it is not possible to livestream meetings they are recorded and 

uploaded as soon as possible:  

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCPp-IJlSNgoF-ugSzxjAPfw/featured  

(2) There are no fire drills planned during the time a meeting is being held.  For the 

benefit of those in the meeting room, the fire alarm is a long continuous bell and 

the exits are via the doors used to enter the room.  An officer on site will lead 

any evacuation. 

(3) Should you need this agenda or any of the reports in a different format, or have 

any other queries concerning the meeting, please contact Democratic Services 

on committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk in the first instance. 

 

Attendance: 

- Members of the Committee are required to attend in person and be present in the 

meeting room.  Only these Members are able to move/ second or amend motions, 

and vote. 

- Other Members of the Council can join via MS Teams and can take part in any 

discussion and ask questions, when invited to do so by the Chair, but cannot 

move/ second or amend motions or vote on any matters. Members participating 

remotely are reminded that this does not count towards their formal committee 

attendance.  

- Occasionally, Members of the Committee are unable to attend in person and may 

join via MS Teams in the same way as other Members.  However, they are unable 

to move/ second or amend motions or vote on any matters if they are not present 

in the meeting room. As with other Members joining via MS Teams, this does not 

count towards their formal committee attendance. 

- Officers can participate in person or online. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCPp-IJlSNgoF-ugSzxjAPfw/featured
mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk


- Members of the public addressing an Area Planning Committee should attend in 

person.  However, arrangements to participate online can be considered in certain 

circumstances.  Please contact committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk for further 

information. 

Before formal proceedings start there will be a sound check of Members/Officers in 

the room.  This is done as a roll call and confirms attendance of voting Members. 

Ground Rules: 

The meeting will operate under the following ground rules: 

- Members in the Chamber should indicate to speak in the usual way and use the 

fixed microphones in front of them.  These need to be switched on when speaking 

or comments will not be heard by those participating online.  Please switch off 

microphones when not speaking. 

- If there any technical issues the meeting will be adjourned to try and rectify them.  

If this is not possible there are a number of options that can be taken to enable the 

meeting to continue.  These will be explained if it becomes necessary. 

For those Members participating online: 

- please request to speak using the ‘chat  or hand raised function’; 

- please turn off cameras and microphones when not speaking; 

- please do not use the ‘chat function’ for other matters as comments can be seen 

by all; 

- Members may wish to blur the background on their camera using the facility on 

Microsoft teams. 

- Please avoid distractions and general chat if not addressing the meeting 

- Please remember to turn off or silence mobile phones 

Voting: 

Voting may be undertaken by way of a roll call and each Member should verbally 

respond For, Against, Abstain.  The vote will be noted and announced by the 

Democratic Services Officer. 

Page 6

mailto:committee.services@tmbc.gov.uk


Alternatively, votes may be taken by general affirmation if it seems that there is 

agreement amongst Members.  The Chairman will announce the outcome of the vote 

for those participating and viewing online. 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 

 
 

TONBRIDGE AND MALLING BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

AREA 3 PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES 
 

Thursday, 25th September, 2025 
 

Present: Cllr D Thornewell (Chair), Cllr R W Dalton (Vice-Chair),                   
Cllr Mrs S Bell, Cllr A G Bennison, Cllr T Bishop, Cllr R I B Cannon, 
Cllr L Chapman, Cllr D A S Davis, Cllr S M Hammond,                    
Cllr P M Hickmott, Cllr D Keers, Cllr Mrs A S Oakley and                 
Cllr C J Williams 
 

 An apology for absence was received from Councillor A McDermott. 
 
PART 1 - PUBLIC 
 

AP3 25/19    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest made in accordance with the 
Code of Conduct. 
 

AP3 25/20    MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED:  That the Minutes of the meeting of the Area 3 Planning 
Committee held on 5 June 2025 be approved as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman. 
 

AP3 25/21    GLOSSARY AND SUPPLEMENTARY MATTERS  
 
Decisions were taken on the following applications subject to the pre-
requisites, informatives, conditions or reasons for refusal set out in the 
report of the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental Health or 
in the variations indicated below.  Any supplementary reports were 
tabled at the meeting.  
  
Members of the public addressed the meeting where the required notice 
had been given and their comments were taken into account by the 
Committee when determining the application.  Speakers are listed under 
the relevant planning application shown below.   
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



AREA 3 PLANNING COMMITTEE 25 September 2025 
 
 

 
2 

 

MATTERS FOR DECISION UNDER DELEGATED POWERS (IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH PART 3 OF THE CONSTITUTION) 
 

AP3 25/22    TM/25/01319/PA - COBDOWN SPORTS GROUND, STATION ROAD, 
DITTON, AYLESFORD  
 
Full planning permission for development at Cobdown Park to provide a 
football training centre (sui generis), comprising of the demolition and 
redevelopment of existing Clubhouse building, refurbishment of existing 
Academy building; demolition of ancillary buildings and structures across 
the Site; provision of new grounds maintenance building and service 
area; refurbishment of existing pavilion building to provide upgraded 
changing and kitchen facilities; provision of new upgraded grass football 
pitches and upgrade of existing synthetic surface; new areas for car and 
cycle parking; upgrade to existing sports lighting; boundary treatment 
and hard and soft landscaping and associated site infrastructure and site 
plant. 
  
Due regard was given to the determining issues detailed in the report of 
the Director of Planning, Housing and Environmental Health with 
particular reference made to the community, social, employment and 
economic benefits to arise from the proposed scheme, and it was 
considered that the overall benefits outweighed any detriment caused by 
the loss, or prejudice to the use, of the area of playing field for any 
former use, including hockey and croquet.  However, it was noted that 
the impacted clubs were encouraged to engage with the Council’s 
Planning Policy Team and Leisure Services to seek to address their 
needs for sports provision as part of the Local Plan development 
process that was currently underway. 
  
Furthermore, suggestions were made by Members in respect of 
implementing low level lighting along the new public right of way to 
balance safety and ecological concerns, exploring further improvements 
to mitigate flooding on the footpath to the north-east of the grounds, 
restricting site traffic during construction to avoid peak school time as 
part of the Construction Environmental Management Plan, considering 
future provision for solar panelling on the roof of the new buildings to 
enhance sustainability and enhancing landscaping plans to ensure the 
planting of native species for better biodiversity. 
  
It was proposed by Councillor D Thornewell (Chair), seconded by 
Councillor R Dalton, and the Committee unanimously 
  
RESOLVED:  That planning permission be GRANTED in accordance 
with the submitted details, conditions and reasons and informatives set 
out in both the main and the supplementary reports of the Director of 
Planning, Housing and Environmental Health, subject to: 
  

Page 10



AREA 3 PLANNING COMMITTEE 25 September 2025 
 
 

 
3 

 

(1) the completion of a legal agreement under section 106 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to secure the 
following: 

  
-       Employment and training obligations in relation to:  

o   Local employment and training  

o   Local supply chain commitments  

-       Travel Plan pursuant to the approved Framework Travel 
(monitoring fee of £1,422). 

-       Community Benefits Plan to include but not limited to: 

o   Use of community 3G pitch 

o   Use of Cobdown Park Pavillion 

o   Use of recreational area 

o   Use of car parking facilities 

o   Use of wider facilities 

o   Details of community outreach and programmes 

including school outreach, local football clubs’ 
outreach, SEND days and links to education 
programmes etc 

o   Details of clinics and coaching sessions for local 

coaches. 
-       Details of the proposed Community Liaison Officer. 
-       Setup and operate a Management Board in accordance 

with the details as part of the Community Benefit Plan for 
the lifetime of the Development (option for TMBC to be 
part of the management board). 

-       Statutory Biodiversity Net Gain obligation; and 
  
(2) Amended Condition 35: 

 
Prior to the commencement of landscaping works, a scheme of 
hard and soft landscaping, including details of existing trees to be 
retained and size, species/cultivar, native hedging, planting 
heights, densities and positions of any soft landscaping; the design 
of access to the public right of way and associated surfacing, 
widths, gradients, landscaping and structures and details of any 
signage, shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
The approved scheme of landscaping shall be carried out before 
the end of the first planting and seeding season following 
occupation of any part of the buildings or completion of the 
development, whichever is sooner, or commencement of the use. 
 
Any existing tree shown to be retained or trees or shrubs to be 
planted as part of the approved landscaping scheme which are 
removed, die, become severely damaged or diseased within five 
years of the completion of development shall be replaced with trees 
or shrubs of appropriate size and species in the next planting 
season. 

Page 11



AREA 3 PLANNING COMMITTEE 25 September 2025 
 
 

 
4 

 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and trees. 
  
[Speakers: Ms C Thompson, Mr M Sharp, Mr D Crouch, Mr G Mancini 
and Ms R Cheesman (members of the public) and Ms N Curtis (on 
behalf of the Applicant) addressed the Committee in person.] 
 

AP3 25/23    PLANNING APPEALS, PUBLIC INQUIRIES AND HEARINGS  
 
The report setting out updates in respect of planning appeals, public 
inquiries and hearings held since the last meeting of the Planning 
Committee was received and noted. 
 

AP3 25/24    EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
There were no items considered in private. 
 
 

The meeting ended at 8.50 pm 
having commenced at 7.40 pm

Page 12



1 
 

GLOSSARY of Abbreviations used in reports to Area Planning Committees 

 

A 

AAP   Area of Archaeological Potential 

AGA     Prior Approval: Agriculture (application suffix) 

AGN  Prior Notification: Agriculture (application suffix) 

AODN  Above Ordnance Datum, Newlyn 

AONB  Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

APC1   Area 1 Planning Committee 

APC2   Area 2 Planning Committee 

APC3   Area 3 Planning Committee 

AT   Advertisement consent (application suffix) 

 

B 

BALI  British Association of Landscape Industries 

BPN   Building Preservation Notice 

BRE   Building Research Establishment 

 

C 

CA   Conservation Area (designated area) 

CCEASC KCC Screening Opinion (application suffix) 

CCEASP KCC Scoping Opinion (application suffix) 

CCG NHS Kent and Medway Group 

CNA   Consultation by Neighbouring Authority (application suffix) 

CPRE  Council for the Protection of Rural England 

CR3   County Regulation 3 (application suffix – determined by KCC) 

CR4  County Regulation 4 (application suffix – determined by KCC) 

CTRL  Channel Tunnel Rail Link (application suffix) 

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

D 

DCLG  Department for Communities and Local Government 

DCMS  Department for Culture, Media and Sport 

DEEM  Deemed application (application suffix) 

DEFRA  Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

DEPN  Prior Notification: Demolition (application suffix) 

DfT  Department for Transport  

DLADPD  Development Land Allocations Development Plan Document 

DMPO  Development Management Procedure Order 

DPD   Development Plan Document 

DPHEH  Director of Planning, Housing & Environmental Health 

DR3   District Regulation 3 

DR4   District Regulation 4 

DSSLT Director of Street Scene, Leisure & Technical Services  

 

E 

EA   Environment Agency 

EIA  Environmental Impact Assessment  

EASC Environmental Impact Assessment Screening request (application 

suffix) 

EASP  Environmental Impact Assessment Scoping request (application suffix) 

EH   English Heritage 

EL   Electricity (application suffix) 

ELB   Ecclesiastical Exemption Consultation (Listed Building) 

EEO  Ecclesiastical Exemption Order  

ELEX   Overhead Lines (Exemptions) 

EMCG  East Malling Conservation Group 

ES  Environmental Statement 

EP  Environmental Protection 

 

 

Page 14



3 
 

F 

FRA   Flood Risk Assessment 

FC   Felling Licence 

FL   Full Application (planning application suffix) 

FLX  Full Application: Extension of Time  

FLEA   Full Application with Environmental Impact Assessment 

 

G 

GDPO  Town & Country Planning (General Development Procedure) 

Order 2015  

GOV   Consultation on Government Development 

GPDO  Town & Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 

Order 2015 (as amended) 

 

H 

HE  Highways England  

HSE   Health and Safety Executive 

HN   Hedgerow Removal Notice (application suffix) 

HWRC Household Waste Recycling Centre 

 

I 

IDD  Internal Drainage District 

IDB  Upper Medway Internal Drainage Board 

IGN3 Kent Design Guide Review: Interim Guidance Note 3 Residential 

Parking 

 

K 

KCC   Kent County Council 

KCCVPS  Kent County Council Vehicle Parking Standards: Supplementary 

Planning Guidance SPG 4 

KDD   KCC Kent Design document 

Page 15



4 
 

KFRS  Kent Fire and Rescue Service 

KGT  Kent Garden Trust 

KWT   Kent Wildlife Trust 

 

L 

LB   Listed Building Consent (application suffix) 

LBX  Listed Building Consent: Extension of Time  

LDF   Local Development Framework 

LDLBP Lawful Development Proposed Listed Building (application suffix) 

LEMP  Landscape and Ecology Management Plan 

LLFA   Lead Local Flood Authority 

LMIDB  Lower Medway Internal Drainage Board 

LPA   Local Planning Authority 

LWS  Local Wildlife Site 

LDE  Lawful Development Certificate: Existing Use or Development 

(application suffix) 

LDP   Lawful Development Certificate: Proposed Use or 

Development (application suffix) 

LP  Local Plan 

LRD   Listed Building Consent Reserved Details (application suffix) 

 

M 

MBC   Maidstone Borough Council 

MC   Medway Council (Medway Towns Unitary Authority) 

MCA   Mineral Consultation Area 

MDE DPD  Managing Development and the Environment Development 

Plan Document 

MGB   Metropolitan Green Belt 

MHCL  Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government  

MIN  Mineral Planning Application (application suffix, KCC determined) 

MSI Member Site Inspection 

Page 16



5 
 

MWLP  Minerals & Waste Local Plan 

 

N 

NE   Natural England 

NMA   Non Material Amendment (application suffix) 

NPPF   National Planning Policy Framework 

 

O 

OA   Outline Application (application suffix) 

OAEA  Outline Application with Environment Impact Assessment (application 

suffix) 

OAX Outline Application: Extension of Time  

OB1O6D Details pursuant to S106 obligation (application suffix) 

OB106M Modify S106 obligation by agreement (application suffix) 

OB106V Vary S106 obligation (application suffix) 

OB106X Discharge S106 obligation (application suffix) 

 

P 

PC  Parish Council 

PD   Permitted Development 

PD4D  Permitted development - change of use flexible 2 year  

PDL  Previously Developed Land 

PDRA Permitted development – change of use agricultural building to flexible 

use (application suffix) 

PDV14J Permitted development - solar equipment on non-domestic premises 

(application suffix) 

PDV18 Permitted development - miscellaneous development (application 

suffix) 

PDVAF Permitted development – agricultural building to flexible use 

(application suffix) 

PDVAR Permitted development - agricultural building to residential (application 

suffix) 

Page 17



6 
 

PLVLR Permitted development - larger residential extension (application suffix) 

PDVOR Permitted development - office to residential (application suffix)  

PDVPRO Permitted development - pub to retail and/or office (application suffix) 

PDVSDR Permitted development storage/distribution to residential (application 

suffix) 

PDVSFR Permitted development PD – shops and financial to restaurant 

(application suffix) 

PDVSR Permitted development PD – shop and sui generis to residential 

(application suffix) 

POS   Public Open Space 

PPG  Planning Practice Guidance 

PWC  Prior Written Consent 

PROW  Public Right Of Way 

 

R 

RD   Reserved Details (application suffix) 

RM   Reserved Matters (application suffix)   

 

S 

SDC  Sevenoaks District Council 

SEW   South East Water 

SFRA  Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (background for the emerging Local 

Plan) 

SNCI   Site of Nature Conservation Interest 

SPAB   Society for the Protection of Ancient Buildings 

SPD   Supplementary Planning Document 

SSSI   Site of Special Scientific Interest 

SW  Southern Water  

 

T 

TC   Town Council 

TCAAP  Tonbridge Town Centre Area Action Plan 

Page 18



7 
 

TCS   Tonbridge Civic Society 

TEPN56/TEN Prior Notification: Telecoms (application suffix) 

TMBC  Tonbridge & Malling Borough Council 

TMBCS  Tonbridge & Malling Borough Core Strategy 2007 

TMBLP  Tonbridge & Malling Borough Local Plan 1998 

TNCA  Notification: Trees in Conservation Areas (application suffix) 

TPOC  Trees subject to TPO (application suffix) 

TRD   Tree Consent Reserved Details (application suffix) 

TRICS Trip Rate Information Computer System 

TWBC  Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

 

U 

UCO   Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987 (as amended) 

UMIDB  Upper Medway Internal Drainage Board 

 

W 

WAS   Waste Disposal Planning Application (KCC determined) 

WTS  Waste Transfer Station 

 

 

(Version 2/2021) 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

Walderslade            11th DECEMBER 2025                         25/00855/PA 

 

Location: 

 

49  HALLSFIELD ROAD  CHATHAM  ME5 9RS 

 

Proposal: 

 

Ground floor rear extension and change of use from use class C3 

residential dwelling to C2 residential institution designed to provide 

accommodation and personal care for up to five individuals. 

 

Go to:                 Recommendation 

 

1. Description of Proposal: 

1.1 Planning permission is sought for a ground floor rear extension and change of use 

from use class C3 residential dwelling to C2 residential institution designed to provide 

accommodation and personal care for up to five individuals with learning disabilities. 

The current age group for residents is between 40 – 53.  

1.2 The company, St Leonard’s Place, employs eight members of staff in total. Two staff 

members are on duty between 8am – 8pm, with one member of staff on duty 

overnight operating a ‘waking night’ shift. The site manager is also on site three to 

four days a week at various times, as needed.  

1.3 Use class C2 is defined within “Residential institutions” in the Schedule to the Use 

Class Order (UCO) as follows: 

 “Use for the provision of residential accommodation and care to people in 

need of care (other than a use within class C3 (dwelling houses). 

 Use as a hospital or nursing home. 

 Use as a residential school, college or training centre.” 

 

1.4 It should be acknowledged that under Use Class C3(b), up to 6 residents can live 

together as a single household, without needing to apply for planning permission, 

and that this represents a legitimate fallback position to the development. Please see 

here for further information.  

 

2. The Site: 

2.1 49 Hallsfield Road is a detached property situated on the east side of Hallsfield 

Road, Chatham.  

2.2 There is an Ancient Woodland to the rear of the site, with the rear garden partially 

sitting within the Buffer Zone.  

 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

3. Planning History (relevant): 

No recent planning history. 

 

4. Consultees: 

4.1 PC: No objection.  

4.2 KCC (Highways): KCC Highways has reviewed the submitted Parking Management 

Plan (PMP). While the applicant has addressed some previously raised concerns, the 

document lacks sufficient detail, and the requested site plan showing independent 

accessible parking spaces has not been provided. It is also requested that the 

applicant confirms the expected daily visitor numbers and explain how these will be 

managed. Based on the submitted information and review of the site it is not 

considered that the parking requirements can be met with the application boundary. 

However, as the site is located on an unclassified road with low traffic flows this is not 

considered a highway safety issue, but rather a highway amenity concern, the 

parking shortfall cannot be considered a valid reason for highway objection. It 

remains recommended that the LPA consult their Parking Enforcement Team. 

4.3 Environmental Protection: I’ve looked through the submitted documents and apart 

from the construction of a conservatory, there appears to be little structural change. 

The change from C3 to C2 would not, at first glance at the information supplied, 

seem to raise any undue Environmental Protection concerns. I have had one case of 

this type of use causing alleged noise issues to residents, but this was not 

substantiated as being Statutory Nuisance. In my experience, that type of 

disturbance is by no means the norm.  

Informatives. 

During the demolition and construction phases, the hours of noisy working (including 

deliveries) likely to affect nearby properties should be restricted to Monday to Friday 

07:30 hours - 18:30 hours; Saturday 08:00 to 13:00 hours; with no such work on 

Sundays or Public Holidays. 

Although it would not be possible at this stage under Environmental Health legislation 

to prohibit the disposal of waste by incineration, the use of bonfires could lead to 

justified complaints from local residents.  The disposal of demolition waste by 

incineration is also contrary to Waste Management Legislation.  I would thus 

recommend that bonfires not be had at the site. 

4.4 Neighbours: 45 objections (please note that in some cases, numerous objections 

were received from the same household), concerned with: 

 Insufficient parking provision 

Page 22



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

 Increased vehicular movements  

 Increased noise pollution  

 Fear of crime and security  

 Light pollution  

 Suitability of property for C2 use  

 Unsustainable location  

 Loss of privacy  

 Loss of light  

 Overbearingness of proposed conservatory  

 Waste and odour  

 Loss of residential character  

 Overdevelopment/ intensity of use  

 Stress on local NHS services  

 

4.5 Section 70(2) Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires the decision maker to 

have regard to any other material considerations in determining an application for 

planning permission. The scope of material planning considerations is wide and must 

have a planning purpose that relates to the character and use of the land. It must 

fairly and reasonably relate to the proposed development under consideration. The 

following matters raised by members of the public are not material planning 

considerations and shall not be considered further: 

 The development sets a precedent for further non-residential uses. 

 Impact upon property values. 

 Restrictive covenants. 

 ‘Residents of both Hallsfield Road and Sadlers Close recently opposed and 

successfully resisted a proposed permit parking scheme. The timing of the 

renewed yellow line restrictions, combined with this planning application, has 

understandably given rise to public concern that these actions may be 

connected. Whether or not this is the case, such perceptions risk undermining 

public trust in fair and accountable local decision making’ (non-material as 

conjecture). 

 Fly tipping and unauthorised works in Ancient Woodland / TMBC land behind 

site (falls beyond the scope of this planning application, is being dealt with by 

the Leisure and Services Department in collaboration with the Tree Officer). 

 Other works to the property which do not require planning permission (e.g., 

internal works), including the actions of contractors and other builders. The 

LPA do not have authority over this and should instead be reported to the 

building companies themselves. 

 

4.6 Concern was also raised regarding publicity and Certificates. Immediate neighbours 

were notified as per Council Statement of Community Involvement and a site notice 

displayed near the site on 3rd October 2025. Although the wrong Certificate was 

initially issued (Certificate A), this was corrected and a Certificate B was served on 

Page 23



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

the neighbouring property, No, 51, due to the shared drive. Appeal decisions 

(including PINS ref. 3009006) have confirmed that although Section 65(5) states that 

“A local planning authority shall not entertain an application for planning permission 

unless any requirements imposed by virtue of this section have been satisfied,” once 

the requirements of s.65(5) have been satisfied, the authority is not prevented from 

entertaining the application — even where the requirement is met after the 

application has been submitted. The appeal decision emphasises that principles of 

natural justice must be taken into account. The purpose of the ownership certificate 

requirements is to ensure that landowners are made aware of development 

proposals affecting their land and have an opportunity to participate in the planning 

process. In this case, the landowner’s interests have not been prejudiced. During the 

site visit, the planning officer spoke with immediate neighbours to discuss their 

concerns, and it is clear that the neighbour who should have received notice was 

aware of the proposal and had also submitted representations online. Accordingly, 

the LPA considers that there is no reason why Certificate B could not be completed 

retrospectively. 

4.7 It is acknowledged that updated plans were submitted close to the public consultation 

end date, however the Council have kept the consultation open and have allowed 

members of the public to submit comments after the consultation end date. 

Furthermore, these were corrections to plans rather than amendments.  

4.8 It should be noted that some of the older comments relate to inaccurate drawings, 

these have since been rectified. ‘Do Not Scale’ annotations have been removed. It is 

not a requirement for street furniture to be shown on site location plans.  

4.9 Moreover, concern has been raised that the Council have accepted more than one 

amendment to the planning application, and that this contravenes the Council’s 

procedure on amendments. This is discussed in greater detail within paragraph 5.57 

of this report. Whilst it is acknowledged that more than one set of amendments were 

accepted, it should be noted that not all amendments received were changes to the 

proposed scheme, but rather they were corrections to drawings which the procedure 

states will be accepted. Furthermore, it is at the Officer’s discretion whether to accept 

such amendments and in this case due to the minor nature of the amendments which 

did not fundamentally change the proposal these amendments were sought.  

4.10 There has also been confusion over the description of development, with some 

residents stating that the conservatory represents a first-floor extension, rather than a 

ground floor extension. However, the LPA would like to clarify that the proposal 

description is correct. Although land levels at the site make the extension appear as 

first floor, it is in fact ground floor, with the annexe below representing the basement 

level. 

4.11 Lastly, drawing HR-A1-SB-05 (Existing Basement (Annexe) and Ground Floor Plans) 

is correct. Although they show the fencing to the rear of the site, this is because the 

fencing is currently there, so it needs to be shown on the plans so that it is a true 

Page 24



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

reflection of the existing situation on site. On drawing HR-A1-SB-08 (Proposed 

Basement and Ground Floor Layout) the fencing to the rear has been removed. This 

is because the applicant will be removing the fencing in order to provide a parking 

space to the rear.  

4.12 Planning Officers have reviewed the plans and are satisfied that they are correct. 

 

5. Relevant Policies & Determining Issues: 

5.1 Principle of Development 

5.2 Under Policy CP11, Hallsfield Road is identified as part of the urban area of 

Walderslade. Whilst it is noted that the policy does not specifically reference changes 

of use, the principle of development in urban areas is largely acceptable, provided it 

complies with other relevant local and national planning policies. This shall be 

assessed in further detail below.  

5.3 The proposal would result in the net loss of 1 residential dwelling through the 

conversion. The Council cannot currently demonstrate a 5 year supply of housing 

and the loss of a dwelling is undesirable. However, the adopted development plan 

does not contain policies resisting the loss of such accommodation. 

5.4 Furthermore, the Housing Needs Report 2022 identifies 258 residential care 

bedspaces (C2 planning use class) or 13 each year to 2040.  

5.5 In summary, while the proposal would result in the loss of a single dwelling at a time 

when the Council cannot demonstrate a five-year housing land supply, the 

development plan contains no policy basis for resisting such a loss. Moreover, 

evidence in the Housing Needs Report (2022) highlights a clear and ongoing 

requirement for additional C2 bedspaces within the Borough. These considerations 

form an important part of the overall planning balance and are examined further in 

the following sections. 

5.6 Design 

5.7 Policy CP24 of the TMBCS seeks to ensure that all development is well designed 

and respects the site and its surroundings. Policy SQ1 of the MDE DPD requires 

development to reflect the local distinctiveness, condition and sensitivity to change of 

the local character areas. 

5.8 Paragraph 139 states that development that is not well designed should be refused, 

especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on 

design. 

5.9 The proposed rear extension would measure approximately 5.5 metres in depth, 5.6 

metres in width, and 3 metres in height. Its fully glazed design is lightweight in 

Page 25



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

appearance and characteristic of a traditional conservatory, rather than a solid brick-

built structure. As the extension is positioned to the rear of the dwelling, it would not 

be readily visible from the public realm and would therefore have no impact on the 

street scene or the character of the wider area. Whilst the change in land levels 

results in the ground floor—and consequently the extension—appearing elevated, 

this is not considered to be visually intrusive or harmful.  

5.10 Overall, it is considered that the design is appropriate for the character of the area 

and would not detract from the street scene or create any impact on the character 

and appearance of the area. As such, the development accords with policies CP24 

and SQ1 and paragraphs 135 and 139 of the NPPF. 

5.11 Residential Amenity 

5.12 Saved Policy P4/12 states that extensions to residential properties will not be 

permitted if they would result in an adverse impact on residential amenity of 

neighbouring properties in terms of light and privacy and overlooking of garden 

areas.  

5.13 Policy CP1 of the Core Strategy also requires proposals to have regard to impacts on 

residential amenity. 

5.14 It is proposed to construct a conservatory-style extension at ground floor level, 

replacing the existing terrace. The current terrace has no mitigation measures in 

place to address potential overlooking. However, given that the proposed 

conservatory would likely result in a more intensive and year-round use of this space, 

it is necessary to consider the potential impact on neighbouring residential amenity. 

5.15 The two closest neighbouring properties are No. 47 Hallsfield Road to the north and 

No. 51 Hallsfield Road to the south. No. 47 is positioned further forward on its plot 

relative to the application site. Substantial soft landscaping exists along the shared 

boundary, meaning views from the existing terrace—where the proposed 

conservatory would be located—towards No. 47 are limited and would not result in a 

material loss of privacy. Whilst some oblique views towards No. 47’s garden may be 

possible, these would be effectively mitigated by the proposed obscure glazing to the 

conservatory’s side elevations, supplemented by a privacy panel for additional 

screening. 

5.16 No. 51 sits level on its plot with No. 49. The proposed obscure glazing to the 

conservatory’s southern elevation will prevent direct overlooking towards No. 51. 

Although the eastern elevation will not be obscure glazed and may allow some 

limited views towards No. 51’s rear garden, at the time of site visit it was noted that 

substantial tree cover exists along the boundary between the rear gardens. Given 

this existing screening and the downward slope of the gardens to the east, any 

potential overlooking is not considered to result in harm to neighbouring amenity. 

Page 26



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

5.17 It is considered that the proposed conservatory would not result in any loss of light to 

neighbouring properties, as the 45-degree rule is met on both sides. Moreover, the 

conservatory is a lightweight glazed structure rather than a solid built form such as a 

brick extension, which significantly reduces its visual mass and overall impact. As a 

result, and given the separation distance between properties, the proposal would not 

appear overbearing or cause undue harm to neighbouring amenity in this regard.  

5.18 Some residents have raised concerns regarding potential light pollution from the 

proposed extension. However, it is not considered that the extension would generate 

significant levels of light pollution that would justify refusal of the application.  

5.19 Overall, it is considered that the proposals would not result in a significant impact on 

the amenity of the neighbouring properties in terms of loss of light, light pollution, 

overbearingness, overlooking and privacy.  

5.20 There has been a number of objections to the proposal from local residents, largely 

relating to noise and disturbance. It is noted that the Council’s Environmental 

Protection Team raised no objection to the proposals and stated that noise 

disturbance from this type of use ‘is by no means the norm.’ Such uses can operate 

successfully within established residential areas without resulting in any measurable 

impact on local amenity or a change to the character of the area. Nevertheless, the 

extent to which that is achievable in this instance remains a matter of planning 

judgement, taking into account the specific site context and operational details of the 

proposal. 

5.21 The proposal would accommodate five adult residents on a permanent basis. 

Between 8:00am and 8:00pm, two members of staff would be present on site to 

provide care, with a site manager attending three to four times per week and 

remaining on call at all times. The applicant indicates that external visitors include a 

chiropodist (monthly), a hairdresser (every six weeks), and family visits for one 

resident every two weeks, with another resident escorted by staff to visit relatives 

elsewhere. It is noted that details of visitors for the other three residents have not 

been specified. Therefore, a condition requiring an Operational Management Plan is 

recommended to ensure visits are staggered to ensure that visits do not result in 

harm to the amenity of the neighbouring occupiers.   

5.22 There is no evidence to suggest that the proposed use would generate higher levels 

of noise and disturbance than its current Class C3 Use. If remaining in Class C3 Use 

as a family home, the dwelling could accommodate two adults and three+ children in 

the main dwelling, with further capacity for up to two adults in the annexe. The 

comings and goings associated with a large family such as this is considered to be 

comparable to the proposed Class C2 Use. The regular shift patterns and changes at 

8am and 8pm would be no different from a family commuting to and from work or 

school. Visitors are infrequent and again, a Class C3 Use can also generate a large 

number of visitors, so there is no evidence to suggest the situation would be 

materially different. 

Page 27



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

5.23 Moreover, if noise nuisances did occur, nearby residents would still be protected 

under the Environmental Protection Act 1990.  

5.24 The aforementioned condition requiring an Operational Management Plan is 

recommended to mitigate impacts to neighbouring amenity. This should include 

contact details for the site manager so neighbours can get in touch if complaints or 

concerns arise. Further conditions are recommended restricting the use and the 

number of residents, so that the LPA can monitor changes to the site.  

5.25 As such whilst the proposed use is not a private residence, there is nothing to 

suggest that the use would result in any greater level of noise or disruption than 

might reasonably be expected in such an area. To reiterate, the Council’s 

Environmental Protection Team have raised no objections on noise grounds, and this 

further suggests that there is no evidence of any harmful levels of disruption to 

adjoining properties. The proposals are therefore not considered to result in undue 

noise and disturbance in line with Policy CP1.  

 

5.26 Fear of Crime 

5.27 It is important to recognise that the planning system does play a role in maintaining 

and enhancing well-being amongst individuals and communities, and fear is well 

documented as being an important contributory factor to diminished levels of well-

being. Paragraph 96 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should aim to 

achieve places which promote safe and accessible environments where crime and 

disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine quality of life or community 

cohesion. This is echoed in Paragraph 135(f) of the NPPF which states that planning 

policies and decisions should ensure that developments create places that are safe, 

inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being. 

5.28 The courts have held that the fear of crime can be a material consideration if there is 

some reasonable, cogent evidential basis linking the proposed use or occupiers with 

criminal activity (West Midlands Probation Committee v Secretary of State for the 

Environment [1997]).  

5.29 The proposal relates to accommodation for adults with learning disabilities, which is a 

supported and supervised residential use. It should be noted that the institution must 

be registered and approved by the Care Quality Commission with stringent checks 

and inspections on its set up and operations. There is no substantive evidence to 

suggest that the proposal would give rise to an increase in crime or anti-social 

behaviour, nor that it would generate a reasonable fear of such outcomes among 

local residents. Any perceived concern would therefore be speculative and not 

supported by material planning grounds. On this basis, it is considered that fear of 

crime does not carry significant weight in the determination of this application. 

 

5.30 Amenity of Future Occupiers 

Page 28



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

5.31 Paragraph 135(f) of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should 

ensure that developments create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and 

which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and 

future users. 

5.32 The application proposes one double bedroom in the annexe (11.1m2), one double 

bedroom on the ground floor (11.8m2), two double bedrooms on the first floor 

(12.3m2 and 13.2m2) and a single bedroom on the first floor (7.6m2). Concerns were 

raised during the application process about the lack of space for staff and regarding 

the size of one of the bedrooms (7.2m2). Consequently, amended plans were 

received which subdivided the living room to create a larger double bedroom on the 

ground floor, and turn the smaller (former) bedroom into an office, as a dedicated 

space for staff to use. As previously stated, it is recommended that a condition to 

secure the number of residents to be no more than 5 and to ensure the office is not 

changed back to a bedroom at a later date.  

5.33  Although subdividing the ground floor living room has reduced the amount of 

communal space, this is mitigated somewhat by the creation of the ground floor 

conservatory-style extension, which will allow the terrace area to be used year-round.  

5.34 It is noted that members of the public have raised concern regarding non-compliance 

with both National Described Space Standards (NDSS) and the Kent County Council 

(KCC) Learning Disability Supported Accommodation Design Principles (May 2017). 

5.35 The NDSS are not relevant to the determination of this application as they are 

applied for the creation of new dwellings which this is not.  

5.36 Regarding the KCC Design Principles, although a material consideration, they carry 

little weight as they are not formally adopted within the Local Plan. Minor shortfalls in 

these principles would therefore not warrant a reason for refusal in their own right. 

5.37 It is worth highlighting that the planning system is just one mechanism in which the 

suitability of the property for the proposed use will be assessed. The Care Quality 

Commission (CQC) act as the main body / regulator for residential institutions such 

as this, and the applicant would be required to register their new location with the 

CQC who would undertake their own assessment of the facility in line with their 

regulations.   

5.38 Therefore, the living standards for future occupants are considered to be acceptable 

in line with paragraph 135(f) of the NPPF. 

Highways and Parking Provision 

5.39 Paragraphs 115 and 116 of the NPPF explain that: 

“115. In assessing sites that may be allocated for development in plans, or specific 

applications for development, it should be ensured that: 

Page 29



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

a) sustainable transport modes are prioritised taking account of the vision for the site, 

the type of development and its location; 

b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; 

c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the content of 

associated standards reflects current national guidance, including the National 

Design Guide and the National Model Design Code; and 

d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms of 

capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to 

an acceptable degree through a vision-led approach.” 

“116. Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there 

would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative 

impacts on the road network, following mitigation, would be severe, taking into 

account all reasonable future scenarios.” 

5.40 Policy SQ8 of the MDE DPD states that development proposals should comply with 

the adopted parking standards and development proposals will only be permitted 

where they would not significantly harm highway safety and where traffic generated 

by the development can adequately be served by the highway network. 

5.41 In this case, the relevant parking standards are Kent County Council (KCC) Parking 

Standards published in January 2025. The guidance sets out the parking standards 

for new developments in Kent.  

5.42 The applicant has supplied the LPA with a ‘Deed of Access,’ which shows that No. 49 

has a right of access over the shared drive which runs between the application site 

and No. 51, and vice versa. Consequently, the red line boundary was amended 

during the application process to encompass the whole drive, as shown on the Deed 

of Access. This is in line with National Planning Practice Guidance which states that 

the red line on the location plan ‘should include all land necessary to carry out the 

proposed development (e.g. land required for access to the site from a public 

highway, visibility splays, landscaping, car parking and open areas around 

buildings).’ 

5.43 Although this type of development would usually fall below the threshold for 

consultation with the KCC Highways Department, due to the considerable public 

interest, particularly with matters pertaining to parking provision and highway safety, 

their professional opinion was sought. 

5.44 In their final set of comments dated 6th November, it was stated that: 

“KCC Highways has reviewed the submitted Parking Management Plan (PMP). While 

the applicant has addressed some previously raised concerns, the document lacks 

sufficient detail, and the requested site plan showing independent accessible parking 

Page 30



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

spaces has not been provided. It is also requested that the applicant confirms the 

expected daily visitor numbers and explain how these will be managed. Based on the 

submitted information and review of the site it is not considered that the parking 

requirements can be met with the application boundary. However, as the site is 

located on an unclassified road with low traffic flows this is not considered a highway 

safety issue, but rather a highway amenity concern, the parking shortfall cannot be 

considered a valid reason for highway objection. It remains recommended that the 

LPA consult their Parking Enforcement Team.” 

5.45 The standards can be seen below: 

 

5.46 No resident staff are proposed. During the day, there will be 2 regular members of 

staff and the site manager, who will visit the site ad hoc. This generates a 

requirement for 1.5 spaces, rounded up to 2 spaces. For visitors, 1 space per 6 beds 

or residents is required. As there are 5 residents proposed, this generates the need 

for 1 visitor space. In total, 3 parking spaces are required. It is acknowledged that the 

company uses a pool car to transport residents to appointments and other days out. 

However, this does not alter the required parking provision of the site on a strict 

reading of the standards.  

5.47 It is acknowledged that there are on-street parking restrictions in the immediate 

vicinity of the site. These restrictions operate directly outside the property between 

12:00pm and 1:00pm, Monday to Friday, and on the opposite side of the road 

between 11:00am and 12:00pm, Monday to Friday. However, the management of 

any existing on street parking restrictions falls to the Parking Services teams within 

District and Borough Councils because it is a devolved function – i.e., it is not the 

responsibility of the Highways Authority to enforce these restrictions. Therefore, if 

illegal parking did occur, this would be flagged with the Parking Services Team within 

the Council.  

5.48 Although the plans have been amended during the course of the application, it is 

considered that the site can only effectively accommodate parking for two vehicles. 

Vehicle tracking demonstrates that it would not be possible for a car to manoeuvre 

out of the front parking space independently while another vehicle is stationary. 

Therefore, only one vehicle can be accommodated at the front. In addition, the 

Page 31



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

applicant has confirmed that only one car can be accommodated within the rear 

parking area. To help offset this shortfall, cycle storage provision has been included 

as part of the proposal. 

5.49 Although the proposal includes the provision of cycle parking spaces, this does not in 

itself ensure that they will be used. In practice, it is unrealistic to expect staff working 

long or overnight shifts to travel by bike, particularly given the likely distances 

between the site and their place of residence. As such, the shortfall in on-site car 

parking cannot reasonably be mitigated by the inclusion of cycle spaces, and the 

LPA has no mechanism to require or enforce staff or visitors to travel by bike. 

Accordingly, only limited weight can be afforded to this measure in addressing the 

identified parking deficit. 

5.50 However, it is noted that the site is classified as being within an urban area in the 

Local Plan. The policy description states that “Development at the urban areas can 

also minimise the need to travel, by being located close to existing services, jobs and 

public transport.” One of the determining factors in designating an area as urban 

would be, amongst other considerations, its accessibility to public transport. 

Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that the site benefits from at least a basic level 

of public transport connectivity, which may offer some limited mitigation in respect of 

the parking shortfall. 

5.51 The Council are aware that the comments received from Highways were somewhat 

unclear. We sought advice from a Senior Highways Officer, who provided us with the 

following final view. 

5.52 The Highways Authority have advised that Hallsfield Road is a residential street that 

is not subject to through traffic and therefore conducive to a low-speed environment. 

Many dwellings have their own dedicated off-street parking which would indicate that 

Hallsfield Road experiences a low-level of parking stress. This could be quantified via 

parking surveys, however it was not considered proportionate to the scale of 

development proposed to request this of the applicant. Moreover, much of Hallsfield 

Road has a linear alignment meaning that oncoming vehicles would have good 

visibility of any overspill parking that might be associated with the development. For 

this reason, although there is a shortfall of 1 parking space, the Highways Authority 

do not object to the development as the shortfall would not amount to a highway 

safety concern. As per Paragraph 116 of the NPPF, ‘Development should only be 

prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact 

on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network, following 

mitigation, would be severe’. As the impacts on the road network at not considered to 

be severe or amount to a highway safety concern, Officers conclude that a refusal 

based on impact to the Highway would not be sustainable at appeal.   

5.53 Although it is acknowledged that the ambulance space cannot be provided on site, 

this was not raised as a concern by the Highways Authority. The applicant has 

Page 32



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

advised that ambulance callouts are by no means the norm and the likelihood of an 

ambulance being called to the site is the same as any other dwelling in the area.  

5.54 It is noted that the applicant has installed fencing to the rear and that this currently 

blocks off the rear parking space. A condition is recommended ensuring that the 

fencing is removed and the parking space made available prior to first occupation. 

5.55 In conclusion, it is considered that the proposals do not conflict with Paragraphs 115 

and 116 of the NPPF.  

5.56 Policy SQ8 of the MDE DPD states that development proposals should comply with 

the adopted parking standards. Although strict reading of the standards would 

indicate a parking shortfall and therefore non-compliance with the adopted parking 

standards, this shortfall has been considered in a site-specific context. In the context, 

the shortfall is considered not to amount to a highway safety issue and therefore is 

accepted in this instance. 

Waste 

5.57 Policy CC2(4) of the MDE DPD states that ‘Proposals for development will not be 

permitted unless they incorporate adequate space for the storage of recyclable and 

non-recyclable waste, where different waste streams can be segregated and 

collected, and, in the case of residential schemes, each dwelling with private garden 

space is equipped, where practicable, with a composting bin.’  

5.58 It is acknowledged that concern was raised from local residents regarding waste 

provision.  

5.59 The Waste Services Team have been consulted and confirmed that they would 

provide the property with all the waste receptacles they provide to other residential 

properties and that the Residential Institution is treated as a Dwellinghouse in this 

regard. Although the exact size of the bins needed is currently unknown (Waste 

Services have advised that when/if the property is occupied, they will discuss their 

needs and provide the most suitable sized bins for their collections), it is considered 

that there is adequate space to the rear of the site for waste provision, such as that it 

would not have a harmful impact on visual amenity. It is recommended that details 

are secured by condition once the sizes of the bins have been confirmed by Waste 

Services. 

5.60 The occupancy would be similar to a Class C3 dwelling and the generation of waste 

and type of waste would be similar such as to not result in harm to the amenity of 

neighbours by way of waste odour.  

Pressure on Local Services 

5.61 Concern has been raised from local residents regarding pressure on local services, 

particularly GPs. However, this is a small-scale development, with five residents 

Page 33



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

proposed. This would not make a significant impact on local services, enough to 

warrant a refusal of the application.  

5.62 Public Sector Equality Duty – Equality Act 2010: Equality Impact  

5.63 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 introduced the Public Sector Equality Duty 

(PSED), which came into force in April 2011. This duty requires public authorities, 

including the Council, to have due regard to the need to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, and victimisation; 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not; and 

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 

those who do not. 

5.64 In the context of planning, equalities considerations are embedded throughout the 

planning process. This begins with the formulation and adoption of planning policies 

at the national, strategic, and local levels, including any supplementary planning 

guidance. These policies are subject to statutory processes that include assessments 

of their impacts on protected groups. 

5.65 For individual development proposals, further consideration is given to the potential 

equality impacts where relevant. In this case, all relevant policies from the Tonbridge 

and Malling Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

have been considered in the assessment of the application. These policies have 

been subject to equality impact assessments during their adoption, in accordance 

with the Equality Act 2010 and prior legalisation and the Council’s obligations under 

the PSED. 

5.66 Accordingly, the adopted planning framework used in the assessment of this 

application is considered to reflect and support the needs of individuals with 

protected characteristics, as defined by the Equality Act 2010 and previous 

legislation. These characteristics include: age, disability, gender reassignment, 

marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, 

and sexual orientation. 

5.67 In assessing this application, Officers have taken into account the nature of the 

business, which provides care for adults with learning disabilities. It is recognised that 

the applicant purchased the property prior to obtaining the necessary planning 

permissions, and that this application therefore carries significant implications for the 

applicant, their business, and the residents in their care. Officers have sought to work 

proactively with the applicant, initially allowing time for the engagement of 

professional architectural support and subsequently accepting a series of amended 

plans. This approach went beyond the usual TMBC policy, which permits only one 

set of amendments per application, and has resulted in what Officers believe to be a 

policy-compliant scheme.  

Page 34



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

5.68 In conclusion, it is considered that Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council has had 

due regard to its duties under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 in the assessment 

of this application and the recommendations set out in this report. 

 

Fallback Position 

5.69 The applicant has submitted a Change of Use application for Planning Permission 

and thus the application has been assessed on this basis. However, it should be 

acknowledged that under Use Class C3(b), up to 6 residents can live together as a 

single household, without needing to apply for planning permission.  

5.70 Classes C3(a) and (b) are set out as follows: 

“Use as a dwellinghouse (whether or not as a sole or main residence) — 

(a) by a single person or by people living together as a family, or 

(b) by not more than 6 residents living together as a single household 

(including a household where care is provided for residents)...” 

 

5.71 Paragraph 3B-979 of the Encyclopedia of Planning includes the following statements: 

(a) “Class C3 is intended and apt to include small community care homes consisting 

of up to six people, “living together under arrangements for providing care and 

support within the community””; (b) “the smaller the number of occupants, the more 

intimate, integrated and cohesive their occupancy is likely to be and the more apt, 

therefore, to describe it as a single household”; (c) “Where the household is one 

where care is provided for residents it remains in this class (provided the limitations 

are met) rather than class C2 (residential institutions)”; (d) “The Secretary of State 

does not accept that the distinction depends upon the extent of the care provided”; 

and (e) “the High Court has confirmed that the Class does not require that the staff 

providing care for residents need themselves be resident (R. v Bromley LBC Exp. 

Sinclair [1991] 3 P.L.R. 60)”. 

5.72 Should the application be refused, the applicant may seek to pursue a Lawful 

Development Certificate, which represents a legitimate fallback position. At this 

stage, the Council does not have sufficient information to assess the likelihood of 

such a Certificate being granted, nor is that the matter currently before us for 

determination. The burden of proof would rest with the applicant to demonstrate, on 

the balance of probabilities, that use of the premises is consistent with a single 

household (C3(b)) and not of a Residential Institution (C2). 

5.73 If a Certificate were to be granted, the use could continue without the Local Planning 

Authority having the ability to impose conditions, including any relating to operational 

management as previously suggested within this report.  

5.74 It should be noted that Planning Permission would still be required for the ground 

floor extension.  

Page 35



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

5.75 Taking into consideration all relevant material planning considerations and the 

fallback position, the following recommendation is put forward: 

 

6. Recommendation: 

6.1  Approve, subject to the following: 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans and documents: 

Planning Statement 

Parking Management System 

HR-A1-SB-04 – Proposed Block Plan 

HR-A1-SB-08 – Proposed Basement and Ground Floor Layout 

HR-A1-SB-09 – Proposed First Floor Plan and Roof Plan 

HR-A1-SB-20 – Proposed Elevations 

BR-AA-XX-XX-DC-E-0403-P02 Vehicle Tracking Path 2 Block Plan View 

BR-AA-XX-XX-DC-E-0404-P02 Vehicle Tracking Path 3 - Google Maps View 

BR-AA-XX-XX-DC-E-0405-P02 Vehicle Tracking Path 3 - Block Plan View 

BR-AA-XX-XX-DC-E-0406-P02 - Vehicle Tracking Path 4 - Google Maps View 

Location Plan 

 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

3. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order amending, revoking and 

reenacting that Order), the use hereby approved shall be for a residential institution 

for adults with learning disabilities and for no other purpose falling within use class 

C2. 

Reason: To ensure the use is controlled in the interests of safeguarding 

neighbouring amenity. 

4. The residential institution shall be limited to no more than 5 residents at any one 

time.  

Reason: To ensure the use is controlled in the interests of safeguarding 

neighbouring amenity. 

5. Before the development hereby approved is occupied, an Operational Management 

Plan detailing how the residential institution will be operated shall be submitted to 

Page 36



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The management plan 

should include, but is not limited to, the following details: 

 How the staff will engage with the local community 

 How visitors will be managed 

 

The facility will be run in accordance with the approved management plan at all 

times. 

Reason: To ensure the use is controlled in the interests of safeguarding 

neighbouring amenity. 

6. The northern and southern elevations of the hereby approved ground floor 

extension shall be obscure glazed and remain so for the lifetime of the 

development.  

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding neighbouring amenity 

7. Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, full details of the 

proposed privacy screening on the ground floor shall be submitted to and approved 

in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include the design, 

height, materials, and finish of the privacy panels. The approved privacy screening 

shall be installed in full prior to the first occupation and shall thereafter be retained 

and maintained in situ for the lifetime of the development. 

Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining residential properties and visual 

amenity. 

8. The use shall not be commenced until details of how waste is to be stored on site, 

and how materials for recycling will be stored separately, have been submitted to, 

and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  The development must be carried 

out in accordance with those details, and the approved scheme shall be retained at 

all times thereafter. 

Reason: In the interests of residential and visual amenity. 

9. The use herby approved shall not be occupied until the area shown on the 

submitted layout for vehicle parking spaces has been made available. Thereafter 

the spaces shall be kept available for such use and no permanent development, 

whether or not permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) Order 2015 (or any order amending, revoking and re-enacting that 

Order) shall be carried out on the land so shown (other than the erection of a 

garage or garages) or in such a position as to preclude vehicular access to these 

reserved parking spaces. 

Reason: To ensure that parking is provided, in the interests of residential amenity.  

Page 37



Area 3 Planning Committee 

 

 

 

Informatives 

1. During the construction phase, the hours of noisy working (including deliveries) 

likely to affect nearby properties should be restricted to Monday to Friday 07:30 

hours - 18:30 hours; Saturday 08:00 to 13:00 hours; with no such work on Sundays 

or Public Holidays. 

 

Contact: Larissa Brooks 

 

 

Page 38



Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



To receive and note any update in respect of planning appeals, public inquiries and hearings 
held since the last meeting of the Planning Committee. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



The Chairman to move that the press and public be excluded from the remainder 
of the meeting during consideration of any items the publication of which would 
disclose exempt information. 

 

 

ANY REPORTS APPEARING AFTER THIS PAGE CONTAIN EXEMPT 
INFORMATION 

 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Guidance for the Conduct of Meetings
	4 Minutes
	5 Glossary and Supplementary Matters
	6 25/00855/PA - 49 Hallsfield Road, Chatham
	Map

	7 Planning Appeals, Public Inquiries and Hearings
	9 Exclusion of Press and Public

